RECEIVED

09-11-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I APPEAL CASE NO. 2017AP1240

JOHN McADAMS

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MARQUETTE UNIVERSITY

Defendant-Respondent.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County Honorable David A. Hansher Presiding Case No. 16-CV-003396

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT JOHN McADAMS

Richard M. Esenberg, WI Bar No. 1005622 Brian McGrath, WI Bar No. 1016840 Clyde Taylor, WI Bar No 1103207 WISCONSIN INSTITUTE FOR LAW & LIBERTY 1139 E. Knapp Street Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-727-9455 FAX: 414-727-6385

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Marquette promises not to discipline tenured professors for exercising "legitimate personal or academic freedom of expression." It further promises them that dismissal will not be used to "restrain rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution." These extraordinary commitments are at the heart of academic freedom. John McAdams has been promised that he can say what is unpopular. He can say things that are critical of the university and things that its administration does not approve.

As with all protections of free expression, the right of academic freedom is not limited by the will of the majority or the sensibilities of one's "peers." The First Amendment is not needed to protect popular speech. Virtually every case in which a university attempts to limit academic freedom will involve speech that a substantial number of people – usually a majority – find objectionable.

In this case, Marquette seeks to terminate Professor McAdams for writing a blog post on a matter of public and institutional interest – the ability of college instructors to restrain student speech based on point of view. In the post, McAdams discussed what was said in an exchange between a student and an instructor, and expressed his own view – one that

goes against the accepted orthodoxy at Marquette – that it is wrong to restrict student speech because it might "come off" – to quote the instructor – as offensive. The blog post eventually led to a firestorm of controversy, and Marquette's administration decided to discipline and eventually fire McAdams for writing it.

Marquette's Faculty Hearing Committee ("FHC") went along. While conceding that no particular thing McAdams said or did was prohibited, it applied a highly subjective multi-part "balancing" test (invented by the FHC) to conclude that McAdams should have done things differently and should be suspended but not fired. Marquette's President doubled down on their post hoc exercise in second guessing by adding his own demand that McAdams engage in compelled speech. The President ruled that if McAdams wants to be reinstated, he must apologize and agree that what he did was wrong. In other words, McAdams must not only accept Marquette's open-ended restraint of his speech, he must say that he agrees with it.

The Circuit Court decided that it should defer to the judgment of the FHC and Marquette's President Michael Lovell about whether McAdams was "really" free to write what he wrote. In other words, it concluded that

one party to the contract – the University – gets to decide after the fact whether and how it will honor its guarantees of academic freedom, personal expression and First Amendment speech.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

<u>Issue 1</u>: Was Professor McAdams' speech as contained in his November 9, 2014 blog post protected under the doctrine of academic freedom?

<u>Circuit Court's Decision</u>: The Circuit Court decided that Professor McAdams' speech was not protected by academic freedom as a matter of law.

<u>Issue 2</u>: Was Professor McAdams' speech as contained in his November 9, 2014 blog post protected under the provisions in his contract granting him the full and free enjoyment of personal freedoms of thought, discourse and advocacy and promising that he would not be fired for exercising rights guaranteed to him by the United States Constitution?

<u>Circuit Court's Decision</u>: The Circuit Court interpreted the contractual provisions to not protect Professor McAdams' speech.

<u>Issue 3</u>: Did the Circuit Court improperly deny Professor McAdams a trial on the question of discretionary cause by deferring to the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the FHC and by sustaining as proper the discipline imposed on him by Marquette's President?

<u>Circuit Court's Decision</u>: The Circuit Court decided that deference was warranted both to the FHC's findings and conclusions and to President Lovell's decision, and the Circuit Court accepted the FHC's factual determinations as true for purposes of summary judgment.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Court should hear oral argument in this case. Each of the three issues involves questions of first impression in Wisconsin.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Court should publish the decision in this matter under the considerations of Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a). There is virtually no published case law in Wisconsin dealing with academic freedom or the First Amendment as those doctrines apply to speech by college professors. Nor is there any published authority in Wisconsin regarding the deference issues presented in this appeal. The decision in this case will clarify the law and contribute to the legal literature. This is particularly important because

the meaning of academic freedom and the protection it provides, along with the First Amendment, is a timely subject in Wisconsin and throughout the United States. Moreover, even though Marquette is a private school, the contract Professor McAdams entered into with Marquette means that the decision in this case will apply not only to Marquette but to all the universities in the UW System and to all private colleges and universities in the State that grant their faculty academic freedom by contract.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Professor McAdams wrote his blog post on November 9, 2014. (R. 66:4-7.) He was suspended and banished from campus on December 16, 2014. (R. 1:24.) On January 30, 2015, he was informed that Marquette intended to revoke his tenure and terminate him. (R. 58:27-43.) Marquette's FHC held its hearing on September 21-24, 2015. (R. 3:14.) The FHC issued a written decision on January 18, 2016. (R. 3:2.) Marquette sent a letter to McAdams dated March 24, 2016, informing him that he was suspended without pay for two semesters and that he would be reinstated only if he issued a written statement acknowledging that he had been irresponsible and apologizing to Marquette and to the instructor he named prior to April

4, 2016. (R. 4.) McAdams informed Marquette on April 4, 2016, that he did not believe he had done anything wrong and that he would not apologize. (R. 66:20-24.) He has never been reinstated. (R. 89:10.)

McAdams filed this action on May 2, 2016. (R. 1.) The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. 35, 52.) The Circuit Court issued its Decision and Order denying McAdams' motion, granting Marquette's motion, and dismissing McAdams' complaint on May 4, 2017 (R. 134), and entering a final judgment on June 9, 2017 (R. 136). McAdams filed his notice of appeal on June 23, 2017. (R. 137.)

Factual Background

1. Professor McAdams and his contract with Marquette.

Professor McAdams joined the Marquette faculty in 1977. (R. 66:1.) He received tenure in 1984. (*Id.*) It is undisputed that McAdams has been a productive member of the faculty, with many scholarly publications to his credit and a good record of classroom performance over his long career. (R. 66:1, 14-17.)

As a tenured member of the faculty, McAdams has a contract with Marquette. (R. 66:2, 18-19.) By its express terms, the contract incorporates

and is subject to the provisions of Marquette's Faculty Statutes ("Faculty Statutes"). (*Id.*)

According to the Faculty Statutes, McAdams cannot be suspended or fired except for absolute or discretionary cause as set forth in §§306.02 and 306.03. (R. 57:7-8.) Absolute cause is not an issue in this case; Marquette suspended and eventually terminated McAdams for discretionary cause. Discretionary cause exists when circumstances arising from a faculty member's conduct "clearly and substantially fail to meet the standard of personal and professional excellence which generally characterizes University faculties, but only if through this conduct a faculty member's value will probably be substantially impaired." Of critical importance to this case, there is an absolute exception. Sec. 306.03 provides that "[i]n no case, however, shall discretionary cause be interpreted so as to impair the full and free enjoyment of legitimate personal or academic freedom of thought, doctrine, discourse, association, advocacy or action" (emphasis added). (P. App. 139.)

Section 307.07 of the Statutes further provides that "dismissal will not be used to restrain faculty members in their exercise of academic freedom or other rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution."

(R. 57:8-10; P. App. 140 (emphasis added).) Marquette cannot suspend or fire McAdams for conduct that is protected by these contractual provisions.

2. The Marquette Warrior Blog.

McAdams is an outspoken defender of conservative values. (R. 66:2.) He publishes a blog called the Marquette Warrior. (*Id.*) In that role, McAdams has frequently called into question the prevailing orthodoxy on the Marquette campus. (*Id.*) In particular, he has been strongly critical of views described by him and others as "political correctness." (*Id.*) He has been a frequent critic of Marquette's administration, including the President, Provost, Deans and Department Chairs. (*Id.*)

McAdams believes that many at Marquette are intolerant of conservative views. And they are hostile to his position that academic freedom guarantees the right to express opinions that some members of the community say are hurtful to them and violate their right to a "safe space." (*Id.*) He is not a popular figure on campus among those who disagree. (*Id.*) For example, the Chair of Marquette's Philosophy Department referred to him in writing as Marquette's "resident right wing lunatic." (R. 57:12.)

3. Cheryl Abbate, her student, and the events of October 28, 2014.

Cheryl Abbate was a graduate student Instructor in Marquette's Philosophy Department. During the Fall Semester of 2014, Abbate was the Instructor for Theory of Ethics, a philosophy course for Marquette undergraduates. (R. 57:15.) She was responsible for delivering the course and grading the students. (*Id.*)

On the morning of October 28, 2014, Abbate was discussing the philosophy of John Rawls in class. (R. 57:15-16.) The discussion included various issues and how they might be resolved under Rawls' theory of justice. The issue of same sex marriage came up, but there was no discussion allowed because Abbate said that there could be no genuine disagreement about it. (*Id.*)

After class, one of her students, referred to in briefing as "JD," approached Abbate.¹ JD recorded their after-class discussion. (R. 57:19-21.) JD told Abbate that he opposed same sex marriage and thought that it had been wrong for her to cut the class discussion short. (*Id.*) Abbate told him that "there are some opinions that are not appropriate that are harmful, such as racist opinions, sexist opinions, and quite honestly, do you know whether anyone in the class is homosexual...And don't you think that that

_

¹ Throughout these proceedings the student has requested anonymity and his identity is protected by the Federal Education and Rights Privacy Act.

would be offensive to them if you were to raise your hand and challenge this?" (*Id.*) Abbate then told JD, "You don't have a right in this class...to make homophobic comments." She said, "You can have whatever opinions you want but I can tell you right now, in this class homophobic comments...will not be tolerated. If you don't like that you are more than free to drop this class." (*Id.*) Shortly thereafter Abbate became aware that JD was recording their conversation on his phone, and broke off the discussion. (*Id.*)

JD complained about his treatment by Abbate to Suzanne Foster, the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs for the College of Arts & Sciences. (R. 57:23.) Foster directed JD to take his complaint to the Philosophy Department. (*Id.*) She never otherwise attempted to deal with his concerns in any way. (*Id.*)

JD met later that same morning with Nancy Snow and Sebastian Luft, the Chair and Assistant Chair of the Philosophy Department. (R. 57:27-29.) There was no discussion of Abbate's behavior. Instead, Snow told JD that "he needs to change his attitude so he comes across as less insolent and disrespectful." (R. 57:30.) In her comments about the meeting Snow called JD an "insulin (sic) little twerp." (R. 57:9.) She later called

him a "little twit" and a "jackass." (R. 57:12.) The Philosophy Department did nothing further to address JD's concerns. Abbate wrote to Snow thanking her for putting JD in his place, writing "Hopefully this experience has informed him that oppressive discourse is not acceptable." (R. 57:30.)

4. The November 9, 2014 Blog Post.

Thereafter, JD met with McAdams and gave him the recording of the Abbate conversation. He agreed that McAdams could blog about it. (R. 66:2.)

On the morning of November 9, 2014, McAdams wrote an email to Abbate stating that he was working on a story about her confrontation with JD and asking for her version of the events. (R. 55:11.) Within half an hour, Abbate forwarded McAdams' email to Snow, Foster, and Assistant Dean James South, telling them that she did not intend to respond. (*Id.*) Snow and Foster agreed that Abbate should not respond. (R. 55:12-13.) That same day, without talking to McAdams and without waiting to see what he would write, Abbate told Foster that "I really don't care what some uncritical, creepy homophobic person with bad argumentation skills has to say about me." (R. 55:14.) She told an acquaintance that "I don't want to waste my

11

² As noted below, not all of these facts were known to McAdams at the time of the proceedings before the Faculty Hearing Committee due to Marquette's withholding of evidence. *See* Section II, *infra*.

energy worrying about some uncritical, hateful homophobic group." (R. 56:9.)

Abbate believed that "there is a whole group at Marquette who are extreme white wing, hateful people and McAdams is the ring leader." (*Id.*) She called McAdams "a flaming bigot, sexist and homophobic idiot." (R. 55:17.) She accused McAdams of using free speech to "insert his ugly face into my class business to try to scare me into silence." (*Id.*) And she considered McAdams' request for comment "harassment." (R. 55:16.)

All of these comments were made <u>before</u> McAdams' published his blog post – before anyone knew what he would say. On the evening of November 9, he published the blog post. The full text of the post is at R. 66:4-7 and P. App. 134-137. It does not take a position on same-sex marriage, but argues that the topic is appropriate for debate and that differences of opinion should be discussed and not censored. The blog post named and criticized Abbate and criticized Marquette for not responding to JD's complaint. It contained no intemperate language and no ad hominem attack of any type.

5. Abbate Complains and Threatens Legal Action.

As it turned out, Abbate and her mentor did not believe that McAdams' post placed her in a bad light. Associate Dean Foster wrote Abbate on the morning after the blog post, saying she didn't believe it was harmful to Abbate: "[Y]ou come off well. That is, anyone who looks at the blog will see where sanity lies." (R. 55:19.) Abbate agreed: "When I saw the blog I was pleasantly surprised." (Id.)

But that did not mean that they did not see the post as a vehicle to go after McAdams. The next day, Abbate drafted a formal letter of complaint. She asked that McAdams be disciplined for his speech. (R. 57:34-35.) She sent a draft of her complaint to a confidant by email. (R. 56:7.) In her email, she described JD as one of her "right wing students." (*Id.*) She said McAdams "hates homosexuals or anyone who supports gay rights" and that she "cannot believe that this bigoted moron has a job at Marquette." (*Id.*)

By the following day (November 11), Abbate had revised her formal complaint and sent it, or had it sent, to University authorities. (R. 57:36-38.) It contained a new charge: that she had "been the target of harassing emails, sent by [McAdams'] followers." (*Id.*) However, the record discloses

that she had by this time received only *a single email* – critical of her but not distasteful. (R. 54:3; R. 58:1.)³

On November 24, Abbate threatened the University with a lawsuit. She wrote a letter to Marquette President Michael Lovell demanding that Marquette fire McAdams, punish JD, and pay her damages of various kinds. She said that if Marquette did not comply with her demands she would have "recourse to a lawsuit." (R. 58:3-5.)

In early December, Abbate decided to leave Marquette for the University of Colorado. (R. 58:6-7.) While Marquette has portrayed this as a consequence of McAdams' criticism, the facts show otherwise. According to Associate Dean South, Abbate's decision was based on a variety of factors other than McAdams' post. (R. 55:21.) In fact, Abbate had tried and failed to transfer to the more prestigious philosophy program at the University of Colorado the previous year. (R. 55:24-25.) This time, she succeeded and was offered "significant financial aid." (R. 55:26.) Nevertheless, on December 10, she wrote again to President Lovell seeking "reparations." She again threatened a lawsuit and bad publicity, stating that

_

³ During discovery Marquette produced the emails received by Abbate. R. 54:3-5 is a spreadsheet showing the dates on which Abbate received those emails.

if her demands were not met, she would "reach out to national, academic news sources **again**." (R. 56:2-5 (emphasis added).)

6. The post goes viral.

Marquette has sought to justify its actions against McAdams by pointing to certain vile and abusive emails that Abbate eventually received as a result of the controversy, even though it is undisputed that McAdams had nothing to do with them. But by November 12, 2014, the date on which Abbate submitted the final form of her complaint against McAdams to the University, there had been no indication that it would cause some major furor. She had received only two emails that were critical of her. (R. 58:8-9; R. 54:3.)

On November 17, a website called the College Fix posted a story reporting on the incident based upon an interview with JD. *See* http://www.thecollegefix.com/post/20138/. Next, the editor of a philosophy website called the Daily Nous saw the College Fix story and wrote to Abbate about it, suggesting that he would be supportive of her position and asking her to comment. She did, sending him a lengthy memo setting out her side of the story. (R. 58:10-15.) The Daily Nous published its story on November 18, claiming that Abbate was the victim of a "smear campaign."

See http://dailynous.com/2014/11/18/philosophy-grad-student-target-of-political-smear-campaign/.

On November 20, Inside Higher Ed published an article on the incident. *See* https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2014/11/20/marquette-u-grad-student-shes-being-targeted-after-ending-class-discussion-gay. As had been the case with the Daily Nous, Abbate gave the reporter her version of events. (*Id.*) Fox News published an article on the incident on November 22. *See* http://www.foxnews.com/opinion/2014/11/22/teacher-to-student-if-dont-support-gay-marriage-drop-my-class.html. Their story was, like the College Fix story, based primarily on an interview with JD. (*Id.*)

After the story made national press, Abbate began receiving numerous emails, some in support of her conduct, some critical, and some distasteful. (R. 54:3-5.) There is no evidence that McAdams had anything to do with any of these emails. (R. 66:3.) Although McAdams thought this was an important issue, Abbate – who apparently agreed – had as much, if not more, to do with the increased attention to the blog post as McAdams did.

7. Marquette's Reaction.

On December 16, 2014, Marquette suspended McAdams from his teaching duties and banished him from campus. (R. 1:24.) Marquette declared, with absolutely no basis in fact, that McAdams' presence on the Marquette campus would pose a threat to public safety. Marquette spokesman Brian Dorrington issued a statement condemning McAdams: The University "will not stand for faculty members subjecting students to any form of abuse, putting them in harm's way. We take any situation where a student's safety is compromised extremely seriously." See http://archive.jsonline.com/news/education/marquette-university-professorjohn-mcadams-remains-banned-from-campus-b99425150z1-

288427731.html.

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