# **RECEIVED** 10-20-2017

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEAUS CONSIN DISTRICT I

JOHN MCADAMS,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v. Appeal No. 2017AP1240

Circuit Court Case No. 16-CV-3396

MARQUETTE UNIVERSITY,

Defendant-Respondent.

#### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 16-CV-3396 THE HONORABLE DAVID A. HANSHER

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT MARQUETTE UNIVERSITY

GASS WEBER MULLINS LLC Ralph A. Weber, SBN 1001563 Stephen T. Trigg, SBN 1075718 241 North Broadway, Suite 300 Milwaukee, WI 53202

414-223-3300

weber@gwmlaw.com trigg@gwmlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent

Dated: October 20, 2017 Marquette University

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

Dr. McAdams argues that his Marquette contract does not require him to comply with the professional standards applicable to university faculty. He is wrong. As the FHC and trial court held, Dr. McAdams violated his professional obligations and duties as a Marquette faculty member and was rightfully disciplined.

## I. Deference on Review to the FHC and President Lovell is Fully Appropriate.

Dr. McAdams urges the Court not to review with any deference the result reached by the process he agreed to in his contract. Judge Hansher rejected these arguments on pages 7-20 of his Opinion. (R.134:7-20).

First, Dr. McAdams argues that because the long-tenured members of the FHC were employed by Marquette the courts should not give due weight to their Findings and Conclusions. (McAdams Br. at 41-43). Judge Hansher correctly analyzed and rejected this argument because, "[m]ost importantly, Dr. McAdams expressly agreed as a condition of his employment to abide by the disciplinary procedure set forth" in his contract. (R.134:11). This disciplinary process designed by the AAUP makes sense because it assigns tenured peers the task of assessing professional conduct. The contract includes a specialized standard for cause that focuses on issues that "are difficult if not impossible" for a jury to assess, requiring that professional peers make those judgments. (Id.). Review by one's tenured peers adds protections, because the peers' own tenure gives them an exceptional level of independence.

Dr. McAdams then asserts that the circuit court followed the wrong cases on deference to academic decision making. (McAdams Br. at 43-48).

Judge Hansher thoroughly distinguished the decisions Dr. McAdams raises. (R.134:7-14). Based on this careful analysis, Judge Hansher held that the caselaw relied upon by Marquette—which defers to academic decision making when there is substantial evidence in the record to support the decision, absent fraud or similar situations—is the authoritative and correct position. (R.134:8).

Finally, Dr. McAdams claims that factual disputes and procedural errors prevent deference. (McAdams Br. at 48-54). But Judge Hansher found that Marquette complied with the contractual process and any factual disputes were not material. (R.134:11-14, 16-20). We urge the court to adopt Judge Hansher's well-reasoned analysis on each of these issues.

### A. The Unanimous Judgment of Dr. McAdams' Peers is Entitled To Deference on Review.

Relevant standards from the academic profession and caselaw from the across the country fully support Judge Hansher's decision to review with deference Dr. McAdams' peers and President Lovell. As Judge Hansher notes, model standards from the AAUP assign judgments on professionalism and fitness to the professor's peers, with oversight by the university's executive officer or governing board. (R.134:11). These Recommended Institutional Regulations on Academic Freedom and Tenure were formulated

in 1957 to enable institutions to "protect academic freedom and tenure and to ensure academic due process," and provide the framework for most of Marquette's faculty statutes on dismissal procedures. (R.42:2, 16).

Since at least 1940 the AAUP has recommended that a faculty committee consider actions for dismissal for cause. (R.41:28). Faculty involvement is especially important for disputes involving extramural utterances, as here, because in such disputes the professional standards "take into account the faculty member's entire record as a teacher and scholar." (R.42:19). Faculty involvement provides "the experience needed for assessing whether an instance of faculty speech constitutes a breach of a central principle of academic morality, and ... the expertise to form judgments of faculty competence or incompetence." (R.42:22).

As Judge Hansher explained, there are multiple reasons for applying deferential review here, as do courts in multiple jurisdictions. First, the parties' contract incorporates a specialized standard for cause that focuses on issues of professional duties and fitness as a professor. (R.134:11). Persons with years of professional experience in academia are better positioned than courts and juries to evaluate and enforce standards of academic excellence, professionalism and fitness. Second, when the parties' contract incorporates

specialized and extensive procedures to be followed in reaching a disciplinary determination, courts should respect the parties' choice to use a non-judicial forum for such issues and then apply the appropriate limited review standards to test validity. (Id.).

The value of having Dr. McAdams' tenured peers evaluate the relevant standards is demonstrated by their comprehensive 123-page report, which addresses issues best explored by those who have spent their career in University life. Neither courts nor jurors are comparably positioned to weigh matters of academic freedom, professional fitness and departure from academic standards, which is why the parties agreed to the process followed here.

As Judge Hansher held, the principle of deferential review of university decision making is explained well in *Yackshaw v. John Carroll University Board of Trustees*. (R.134:7-8, 14). Professor Yackshaw was dismissed by his board of trustees following a faculty committee hearing. 624 N.E.2d 225, 227 (Ohio App. 1993). In the lawsuit that followed, the professor argued that he was entitled to a trial *de novo* on his contract claim arising from his dismissal. *Id.* at 226. The court rejected *de novo* review, and instead adopted the faculty committee's Findings of Fact and held it was

sufficient that the trial court had reviewed the record and "determined that there was substantial evidence to support Yackshaw's termination." *Id.* at 227.

As Judge Hansher notes, the court in *Yackshaw* found "rationale and guidance from the standard of review adopted by administrative agencies, especially when the involved parties have bound themselves contractually." *Id.* at 228. "[I]t is sufficient to determine if the termination is contractually and constitutionally permissible and if there is substantial evidence in the record to support the university's decision to terminate." *Id.* Doing so "seeks to preserve the contractual intent of the parties," including the "finality of the factfinding process" at the university level. *Id.* Barring action that was fraudulent, taken in bad faith, an abuse of discretion, or infringing on constitutional rights, it was not the court's place to substitute its judgment for that reached in the university process. *Id.* 

Both Judge Hansher and the *Yackshaw* court distinguished *McConnell* v. *Howard University*, 818 F.2d 58 (D.C. Cir. 1987), the decision on which Dr. McAdams relies. When properly understood, however, *McConnell* did not reject "a limited review when there are no facts in dispute." *Yackshaw*, 624 N.E.2d at 229. Instead, *McConnell* creates "an exception to the

traditional rule of deference" because in that case "the university failed to honor its contract and the evidence did not substantially support the facts concluded by the university's review board." *Id.* at 228-29.

Judge Hansher carefully detailed why *McConnell* did not apply here. (R.134:8-10). Of particular import was evidence that McConnell "was clearly not given a fair hearing by the perfunctory procedure that was used and the overruling of the Grievance Committee's recommendation based on a two-page summary." (R.134:10). Thus, Judge Hansher—like the *Yackshaw* court—found *McConnell* limited to its particular facts.

Later decisions have followed *Yackshaw's* deferential review. In *Traster v. Ohio Northern University*, a tenured law professor was terminated based upon a faculty committee's report after a hearing, which the Board of Trustees relied upon in terminating the professor. 2015 WL 10739302 (N.D. Oh. Dec. 18, 2015). The court upheld the university's decision, stating that because the contract defined the procedures to be used, the standard of review was whether there was substantial evidence to support the termination, which was limited to the record assembled by the university. *Id.* at \*10.

Similarly, in *Collins v. Notre Dame*, the court granted partial summary judgment to the university that followed a procedure similar to Marquette's

and involved a written report from a committee of tenured faculty members. 2012 WL 1877682 (N.D. Ind. May 21, 2012). The court stated that, "[i]n reviewing the universities' actions regarding tenured professors, the courts are reluctant to second-guess the administrative decisions." *Id.* at \*5.6 *See also Grant v. Trustees of Ind. Univ.*, 2016 WL 1222344, at \*9 (S.D. Ind. Mar. 28, 2016) (courts review with deference "the administrative decisions regarding professional misconduct at universities.").

A recent Seventh Circuit case that in part followed *McConnell* further supports Marquette's position. In *Roberts v. Columbia College Chicago*, the Seventh Circuit relied on *McConnell* in finding the parties' contract did not prevent judicial review of a detenuring decision. 821 F.3d 855, 862-63 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2016). (Marquette of course does not argue against judicial review). But in the review itself the Seventh Circuit then used a deferential standard. The Seventh Circuit thus inquired into whether the University had exercised its discretion reasonably, but not into whether the decisions themselves were correct (as *de novo* review would entail). *Id.* at 864-65. Judge Hansher

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> While *Collins* held in part that Notre Dame erred by appointing a faculty member to the Hearing Committee that the applicable rules categorically excluded from participation, 2016 WL 1222344, at \*6, that issue is different from Dr. McAdams' challenge to Dr. Turner. Unlike Notre Dame's categorical exclusion, the Marquette Faculty Statutes state that "[r]emoval of a member for bias or interest is at the discretion of the FHC," which discretion was exercised and explained in a written decision. (R.45:10). *See infra* at 29.

recognized the Seventh Circuit "actually gave deference to the university by limiting its review to an evaluation of whether the university acted in good faith and whether it reasonably exercised its discretion." (R.134:10).

Numerous other decisions have applied similarly deferential standards when addressing termination or discipline of tenured faculty members. Judge Hansher correctly analyzed a number of leading cases. (R.134:10-11). In addition, these additional cases also support deference to academic decision making:

- Haegert v. University of Evansville, 977 N.E.2d 924 (Ind. 2012): Clear and convincing evidence in the record supported findings of university bodies and compliance with termination procedures. Id. at 943-950. For educational institutions "as long as the process is reasonably transparent and fair and affords the subject an opportunity to respond. ... the ultimate issue focuses less on the particular process and more on the recognition of the institution's interest in assuring a proper educational environment." Id. at 951 (emphasis supplied).
- Gutkin v. University of S. Cal., 101 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 967, 978 (Cal. App. 2002): Tenured professor was limited to administrative mandamus action challenging dismissal on limited grounds. Determinations regarding membership in the academic community "requires an assessment of whether the professor's conduct is consistent with or contrary to academic norms, which only academic peers, not lay jurors, are qualified to determine." Id. at 978 (emphasis supplied).
- Motzkin v. Trustees of Boston Univ., 938 F. Supp. 983, 998-99 (D. Mass. 1996): Granting summary judgment for university where procedures for termination were fundamentally fair and in substantial compliance with those prescribed in handbook.<sup>7</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Courts addressing claims resulting from tenure denial also note the deference applied to university decisions and processes. *See Feldman v. Ho*, 171 F.3d 494, 497 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999) ("the only way to preserve academic freedom is to keep claims of academic error out of

Judge Hansher also found that Marquette's and Dr. McAdams' contractual agreement to have a nonjudicial panel consider their dispute is similar in substance and effect to an arbitration agreement. (R.134:13-14). Courts do not substitute their judgment for an arbitrator's when the parties contract for nonjudicial factfinding and decision. *Madison* v. *Madison Prof'l Police Officers Ass'n*, 144 Wis. 2d 576, 585, 425 N.W.2d 8 (1988). Overturning an arbitration decision will not occur absent "perverse misconstruction or positive misconduct," "manifest disregard of the law, or if the award itself is illegal or violates strong public policy." *Id.* at 586, quoting *Milwaukee Bd. of School Dirs.* v. *Milwaukee Teachers' Educ. Ass'n*, 93 Wis. 2d 415, 422, 287N.W.2d 131 (1980).

Judge Hansher ultimately held that deference was warranted for a number of reasons related to the standards that govern the academic profession and the terms of Dr. McAdams' contract with Marquette. (R.134:11).<sup>8</sup> The standard of deference that should be applied "is identical to

\_

the legal maw"); *Vanasco v. National-Louis Univ.*, 137 F.3d 962, 968 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998) ("we must not second-guess the expert decisions of faculty committees in the absence of evidence that those decisions mask actual but unarticulated reasons for the University's actions,").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> These considerations of specialized standards and contractual processes support the deference given in other similar situations (e.g., reviews of administrative agency

that applied by the *Yackshaw* court," which is akin to "due weight deference" under Wisconsin law. (R.134:12-14). Applying this standard, there is substantial evidence to support the discipline imposed on Dr. McAdams, and no evidence that Marquette's actions were fraudulent, taken in bad faith, an abuse of discretion, or infringed any constitutional rights.

### B. President Lovell's Implementation of the FHC's Report is Entitled to Deference on Review.

Judge Hansher found that President Lovell's letter adopting the FHC Report and conditioning Dr. McAdams' return on his agreement to change his behavior and abide by the terms of his contract likewise was entitled to deference. (R.134:14-16). The parties agreed that President Lovell would make the decision implementing the FHC's report and findings. (R.45:9, 11). Vesting the final decision in the hands of President Lovell is consistent with the Marquette Faculty Statutes. (See R.45:13 ("Faculty members acknowledge that the ultimate responsibility for the operation of the University resides with the Board of Trustees and the President."); R.45:18 (FHC reports directly to the University President)). In addition,

decisions and hospital staff privilege terminations). *See e.g., Shahaway v. Harrison*, 875 F.2d 1529, 1533 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989).

22

recommendations and statements from the AAUP consistently refer to transmitting the findings of a faculty committee to another decision maker:

- AAUP 1940 Statement: dismissal for cause "should, if possible, be considered by both a faculty committee and the governing board of the institution." (R.41:28).
- AAUP's Recommended Institutional Regulations: refers to transmittal of the faculty report to the President and governing board, and the options each entity has regarding the report. (R.42:7-8).
- AAUP Committee A Statement on Extramural Utterances: notes the importance of faculty involvement in dismissal proceedings, and that "it will view with particular gravity an administrative or board reversal of a favorable faculty committee hearing judgment in a case involving extramural utterances." (R.42:19).
- AAUP Statements on Government of Colleges and Universities and On the Relationship of Faculty Governance to Academic Freedom: on issues of faculty status,"[d]eterminations in these matters should first be by faculty action through established procedures, reviewed by the chief academic officers with the concurrence of the board. The governing board and president should, on questions of faculty status ... concur with the faculty judgment except in rare instances and for compelling reasons which should be stated in detail." (R.42:21; R.78:19).

In light of his institutional authority and the parties' agreement, it was incumbent upon President Lovell to implement the FHC's decision (and its frank condemnation of Dr. McAdams' lack of professional standards) with appropriate consideration for Marquette as an institution and its obligations

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